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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, December 31, 
2020 2019

    (unaudited)     
ASSETS       

Current Assets:       
Cash and cash equivalents $ 44,326,038 $ 47,234,770
Short-term investments  163,891,831  47,060,786
Accounts receivable, net  7,038,733  7,098,191
Inventories  538,376  473,961
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  891,652  1,096,855

Total current assets  216,686,630  102,964,563
Property and equipment, net  13,702,732  11,833,057
Operating lease right-of-use assets  5,868,513  4,460,319
Intangible assets, net 4,984,012 5,177,578
Goodwill  10,999,722  10,999,722
Deposits  534,978  437,299

Total assets $ 252,776,587 $ 135,872,538

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current Liabilities:     

Accounts payable and other accrued expenses $ 6,509,745 $ 2,498,375
Accrued compensation and related expenses  1,852,186  1,903,720
Deferred revenue  330,272  367,867
Operating lease liabilities  691,386  665,901
Finance lease liabilities  57,946  24,617

Total current liabilities  9,441,535  5,460,480
Convertible senior notes, net of discount of $4.0 million  110,977,419  —
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  5,497,430  4,101,236
Finance lease liabilities, net of current portion  146,570  8,539
Deferred tax liability  56,945  20,935

Total liabilities  126,119,899  9,591,190

Commitments and contingencies       
Stockholders’ Equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized:       
Class A convertible preferred stock — $0.001 par value; 800,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding  —  —
Class B convertible preferred stock — $0.001 par value; 585,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding  —  —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 38,565,193 and 37,339,787 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively  38,565  37,340

Additional paid-in capital  295,423,521  285,609,022
Accumulated deficit  (169,065,602)  (159,319,963)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  260,204  (45,051)

Total stockholders’ equity  126,656,688  126,281,348
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 252,776,587 $ 135,872,538

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended 
June 30, June 30, 

    2020     2019     2020     2019
Revenues $ 9,389,006 $ 8,463,588 $ 19,163,081 $ 15,116,500
Cost of revenues  4,262,010  4,125,199  8,778,121  7,324,210
Gross margin  5,126,996  4,338,389  10,384,960  7,792,290

Operating costs and expenses:     
General and administrative  5,733,149  3,258,781  9,763,191  5,955,640
Sales and marketing  3,292,845  2,843,073  6,374,272  5,251,065
Engineering and development  1,946,443  540,933  3,679,169  1,030,529
Total operating costs and expenses  10,972,437  6,642,787  19,816,632  12,237,234

Loss from operations  (5,845,441)  (2,304,398)  (9,431,672)  (4,444,944)
Other income (expense):     

Interest expense  (398,256)  (333,910)  (400,707)  (672,638)
Other income, net  490,784  119,441  169,598  210,913

Loss before provision for income taxes  (5,752,913)  (2,518,867)  (9,662,781)  (4,906,669)
Provision for income taxes  (49,833)  (9,624)  (82,858)  (8,724)
Net loss $ (5,802,746) $ (2,528,491) $ (9,745,639) $ (4,915,393)
Net loss per share – basic and diluted $ (0.15) $ (0.08) $ (0.26) $ (0.16)
Weighted average shares outstanding – basic and diluted  38,281,087  31,176,166  37,914,818  30,811,109

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended 
June 30, June 30, 

    2020     2019     2020     2019
Net loss $ (5,802,746) $ (2,528,491) $ (9,745,639) $ (4,915,393)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:     
Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale debt securities  (144,647)  37,905  335,746  59,612
Reclassification of realized gain on available-for-sale debt securities to earnings  (15,563)  (18,913)  (26,552)  (12,846)
Foreign currency translation adjustments  (2,795)  (1,535)  (3,939)  (11,615)

Other comprehensive income (loss)  (163,005)  17,457  305,255  35,151
Total comprehensive loss $ (5,965,751) $ (2,511,034) $ (9,440,384) $ (4,880,242)
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated 
Class A Class B Additional Other Total 

Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid–In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income     Equity  (Deficit)

Balance at March 31, 2019  — $ —  — $ —  30,677,500 $ 30,678 $182,230,799 $(143,375,386) $ 20,847 $ 38,906,938
Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (2,528,491)  —  (2,528,491)
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  17,457  17,457
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,959,588  —  —  1,959,588
Proceeds from public offering, net of costs of
$106,300 — — — — 4,312,500 4,313 68,803,133 — — 68,807,446
Issuance of common stock for board of director
compensation  —  —  —  —  1,920  2  32,165  —  —  32,167
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and
warrants  —  —  —  —  493,650  493  1,554,577  —  —  1,555,070

Balance at June 30, 2019  — $ —  — $ —  35,485,570 $ 35,486 $254,580,262 $(145,903,877) $ 38,304 $ 108,750,175

Balance at March 31, 2020  — $ —  — $ —  37,930,255 $ 37,930 $290,106,664 $(163,262,856) $ 423,209 $ 127,304,947
Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (5,802,746)  —  (5,802,746)
Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — — — — — — (163,005) (163,005)
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  2,280,830  —  —  2,280,830
Issuance of common stock for board of director
compensation  —  —  —  —  699  1  20,666  —  —  20,667
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and
warrants  —  —  —  —  634,239  634  3,015,361  —  —  3,015,995

Balance at June 30, 2020  — $ —  — $ —  38,565,193 $ 38,565 $295,423,521 $(169,065,602) $ 260,204 $ 126,656,688

Balance at December 31, 2018  — $ —  — $ —  30,319,038 $ 30,319 $179,501,577 $(140,988,484) $ 3,153 $ 38,546,565
Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (4,915,393)  —  (4,915,393)
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  35,151  35,151
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  3,355,824  —  —  3,355,824
Proceeds from public offering, net of costs of
$106,300 — — — — 4,312,500 4,313 68,803,133 — — 68,807,446
Issuance of common stock for board of director
compensation  —  —  —  —  3,239  3  49,663  —  —  49,666
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and
warrants  —  —  —  —  850,793  851  2,870,065  —  —  2,870,916

Balance at June 30, 2019  — $ —  — $ —  35,485,570 $ 35,486 $254,580,262 $(145,903,877) $ 38,304 $ 108,750,175
                    

Balance at December 31, 2019  — $ —  — $ —  37,339,787 $ 37,340 $285,609,022 $(159,319,963) $ (45,051) $ 126,281,348

Net loss  —  —  —  —                —  
               

—  —  (9,745,639)  —  (9,745,639)
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes — — — — — — — — 305,255 305,255
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  3,880,542  —  —  3,880,542
Issuance of common stock for board of director
compensation  —  —  —  —  1,968  2  41,331  —  —  41,333
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and
warrants  —  —  —  —  1,223,438  1,223  5,892,626  —  —  5,893,849

Balance at June 30, 2020  — $ —  — $ —  38,565,193 $ 38,565 $295,423,521 $(169,065,602) $ 260,204 $ 126,656,688

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended
June 30, 

    2020     2019
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:       

Net loss $ (9,745,639) $ (4,915,393)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   

Depreciation and amortization  1,668,710  797,255
Amortization of debt discount  60,105  30,793
Unrealized gain on investments in equity securities  (336,578)  (75,348)
Realized loss on investments in equity securities 804,772 —
Realized gain on available-for-sale investments (16,892) (29,911)
Stock-based compensation expense  3,921,875  3,405,490
Loss on disposal of property and equipment  121,336  100,254
Provision for bad debt 33,976 42,042
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Accounts receivable  25,482  (2,594,234)
Inventories  (64,415)  (85,924)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  205,203  225,402
Deposits  (97,679)  (14,977)
Change in operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 13,485 (56,532)
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses  3,149,770  1,712,648
Accrued compensation and related expenses  (51,534)  271,779
Deferred revenue  (37,595)  (64,830)
Deferred tax liability 36,010 —

Net cash used in operating activities  (309,608)  (1,251,486)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:   
Purchases of property and equipment  (2,542,151)  (2,578,145)
Purchases of short-term investments  (136,252,019)  (6,020,660)
Sales/maturities of short-term investments  19,278,866  2,000,000
Cash paid for acquisition — (20,429,651)
Patent and trademark costs  (74,934) (43,029)

Net cash used in investing activities  (119,590,238)  (27,071,485)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:   
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants  5,893,849  2,870,916
Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes  115,000,000  —
Proceeds from June 2019 public offering, net of offering costs — 68,807,446
Payment of deferred financing costs  (3,870,500)  (19,748)
Repayment of finance lease liabilities  (32,241)  (11,426)

Net cash provided by financing activities  116,991,108  71,647,188

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  6  (9,129)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  (2,908,732)  43,315,088

Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period  47,234,770  37,327,125
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period $ 44,326,038 $ 80,642,213

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities:     
Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities $ 335,746 $ 59,612
Reclassification of realized gain on available-for-sale debt securities to earnings $ 26,552 $ 12,846
Convertible debt costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 212,186 $ —
Fixed assets included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 649,414 $ —
Purchase of equipment through finance lease obligations $ 204,516 $ —

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(Unaudited)

Note 1. Management’s Representation and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Cryoport, Inc. (the “Company”, “Cryoport”,
“our” or “we”) in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial
information, and pursuant to the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statement presentation.
However, the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. In the opinion of management, all
adjustments (consisting primarily of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.

Operating results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2020. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the date of this filing and determined that no subsequent events have occurred that would
require recognition in the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements or disclosure in the notes thereto other than as disclosed in the
accompanying notes.

Note 2. Nature of the Business

Cryoport Inc. (“Cryoport”, “we”, or “our”) is a life sciences services company that is an integral part of the temperature-controlled supply chain
supporting the biopharma, reproductive medicine and animal health markets. We are redefining logistics for the life sciences industry by providing a
unique platform of critical solutions including highly differentiated temperature-controlled supply chain solutions, which include advanced packaging,
informatics, specialty logistics services and biostorage services. Through our products, services and unparalleled expertise, we enable our clients to ship,
store and deliver cellular-based materials and drug products as well as other life sciences commodities in a precise, defined temperature-controlled state.

Cryoport’s advanced platform, comprised of comprehensive and technology-centric systems and solutions are designed to support the global high-
volume distribution of commercial biologic and cell-based products and therapies regulated by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and
other international regulatory bodies for distribution in the Americas, EMEA (Europe, the Middle East, and Africa) and APAC (Asia-Pacific) regions.
Cryoport’s solutions are also designed to support pre-clinical, clinical trials, Biologics License Applications (BLA), Investigational New Drug Applications
(IND) and New Drug Applications (NDA) with the FDA, as well as global clinical trials initiated in other countries, where strict regulatory compliance and
quality assurance is mandated. Our industry standard setting Chain of ComplianceTM solutions, which include vital analytics, such as ‘chain-of-condition’
and ‘chain-of-custody’ information in a single data stream, empower our clients’ continuous vigilance over their respective commodities. In addition, our
Chain of ComplianceTM standard ensures full traceability of the equipment used and the processes employed, further supporting each client’s goal of
minimizing risk and maximizing success of their respective new biologics or other products and therapies as they are introduced into the global markets.

On May 14, 2019, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Cryogene Partners, a Texas general partnership doing business as
Cryogene Labs (“Cryogene”).  Cryogene operates a temperature-controlled biostorage solutions business in Houston, Texas.  As a result of the Cryogene
acquisition, the Company operates in two reportable segments: Global Logistics Solutions and Global Bioservices. See Note 6 for segment information.

The Company is a Nevada corporation and its common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market exchange under the ticker symbol
“CYRX.”
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Note 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Cryoport, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Cryoport Systems,
Inc., Cryoport Netherlands B.V., Cryoport UK Limited and Cryogene, Inc. (collectively, the “Company”). All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents represent demand deposits, and money market funds which are readily convertible into cash, have maturities of
90 days or less when purchased and are considered highly liquid and easily tradeable.

Short-Term Investments

Our investments in equity securities consist of mutual funds with readily determinable fair values which are carried at fair value with changes in
fair value recognized in earnings.

Investments in debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported
as accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and included as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.

Gains and losses are recognized when realized. When we have determined that an other than temporary decline in fair value has occurred, the
amount related to a credit loss is recognized in earnings. Gains and losses are determined using the specific identification method.

Short-term investments are classified as current assets even though maturities may extend beyond one year because they represent investments of
cash available for operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from estimated amounts. The Company’s
significant estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, fair value of short-term investments, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
in business combinations, recoverability of goodwill and long- lived assets, allowance for inventory obsolescence, deferred taxes and their accompanying
valuations, and valuation of equity-based instruments.

The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations and financial condition,
including revenues, expenses, reserves and allowances, will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain, including as a result of new
information that may emerge concerning COVID-19 and the actions taken to contain or treat COVID-19, as well as the economic impact on local, regional,
national and international customers and markets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued expenses, finance lease liabilities and the convertible senior notes. The carrying value for all such instruments, except finance lease liabilities and
the convertible senior notes, approximates fair value at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of finance
lease liabilities approximates fair value because the interest rate approximates market rates available to us for similar obligations with the same maturities.
 For additional information related to fair value measurements, including the convertible senior notes, see Note 8.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments. From time to time, we maintain cash, cash equivalent and short-term investment balances in excess of amounts
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insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIPC”). Primarily all of our cash,
cash equivalents and short-term investments at June 30, 2020 were in excess of amounts insured by the FDIC and SIPC. The Company performs ongoing
evaluations of these institutions to limit its concentration risk exposure. We manage such risks in our portfolio by investing in highly liquid, highly-rated
instruments, and limit investing in long-term maturity instruments.

Our investment policy requires that purchased instruments in marketable securities may only be in highly-rated instruments, which are primarily
U.S. Treasury bills or treasury-backed securities, and also limits our investment in securities of any single issuer.

Customers

The Company grants credit to customers within the U.S. and to a limited number of international customers and does not require collateral.
Revenues from international customers are generally secured by advance payments except for established foreign customers. The Company generally
requires advance or credit card payments for initial revenues from new customers. The Company’s ability to collect receivables can be affected by
economic fluctuations in the geographic areas and industries served by the Company. Reserves for uncollectible amounts are provided based on past
experience and a specific analysis of the accounts, which management believes to be sufficient. Accounts receivable at June 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019 are net of reserves for doubtful accounts of $170,000 and $140,000 , respectively. Although the Company expects to collect amounts due, actual
collections may differ from the estimated amounts. The Company maintains reserves for bad debt and such losses, in the aggregate, historically have not
exceeded its estimates.

The Company’s customers are in the biotechnology, pharmaceutical, animal health, reproductive medicine and other life science industries.
Consequently, there is a concentration of accounts receivable within these industries, which is subject to normal credit risk. As of June 30, 2020, there were
two customers that accounted for 35.0% and 12.4%, respectively, of net accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2019, there were two customers that
accounted for 31.0% and 20.7%, respectively, of net accounts receivable. There were no other single customers that owed us more than 10% of net
accounts receivable at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

The Company has revenue from foreign customers primarily in Europe, Canada and China. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
the Company had revenues from foreign customers of approximately $4.1 million and $1.4 million, respectively, which constituted approximately 21.3%
and 9.3%, respectively, of total revenues. There were three customers that accounted for 17.0%, 16.6% and 11.0% of revenues during the six months ended
June 30, 2020, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2019, there were two customers that accounted for 26.9% and 10.5% of total revenues, 
respectively.  No other single customer generated over 10% of revenues during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had revenues from foreign customers of approximately $2.0 million and
$928,100, respectively, which constituted approximately 21.2% and 11.0%, respectively, of total revenues. There were three customers that accounted for
16.6%, 16.0% and 11.3% of revenues during the three months ended June 30, 2020, respectively. There were two customers that accounted for 28.6% and
10.4% of revenues during the three months ended June 30, 2019, respectively. No other single customer generated over 10% of revenues during the three 
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories consist of packaging materials and accessories that are sold to customers. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the standard cost method which approximates the first-in, first-to-expire method. Inventories are
reviewed periodically for slow-moving or obsolete status. The Company writes down the carrying value of its inventories to reflect situations in which the
cost of inventories is not expected to be recovered. Once established, write-downs of inventories are considered permanent adjustments to the cost basis of
the obsolete or excess inventories. Raw materials and finished goods include material costs less reserves for obsolete or excess inventories. The Company
evaluates the current level of inventories considering historical trends and other factors, such as selling prices and costs of completion, disposal and
transportation, and based on the evaluation, records adjustments to reflect inventories at net realizable value. These adjustments are estimates, which could
vary significantly from actual results if future economic conditions, customer demand, competition or other relevant factors differ from expectations. These
estimates require us to make assessments about future demand for the Company’s products in order to categorize the status of such inventories items as
slow-moving, obsolete or in excess-of-need. These estimates are subject to the ongoing accuracy of the Company’s forecasts of market conditions, industry
trends, competition and other factors.
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Property and Equipment

The Company provides engineered shipping packages ("Cryoport Express® Shippers”) to its customers and charges  fees  for the use of the
Cryoport Express® Shipper. The Company’s arrangements are similar to the accounting standard for leases since they convey the right to use the Cryoport
Express® Shipper over a period of time. The Company retains title to the Cryoport Express® Shippers and provides its customers the use of the Cryoport
Express® Shipper for a specific shipping cycle. At the culmination of the customer’s shipping cycle, the Cryoport Express® Shipper is returned to the
Company, where it is cleaned, disassembled, tested, recertified and placed into inventory for reuse. As a result, the Company classifies the Cryoport
Express® Shippers as property and equipment for the per-use Cryoport Express® Shipper program.

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Cryoport Express® Shippers, which include SmartPak IITM Condition Monitoring Systems and/or
data loggers, comprise 19% of the Company’s net property and equipment balance at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and are
depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of three years. Cryogene mechanical and liquid nitrogen freezers comprise 21%
and 25%, of the Company’s net property and equipment balance at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively and are depreciated using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of seven to twelve years. Equipment and furniture are depreciated using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives (generally three to fifteen years) and leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the asset or the lease term, whichever is shorter.

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repairs that extend the lives of the assets are capitalized; other repairs and maintenance charges are
expensed as incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization applicable to assets retired are removed from the accounts, and the
gain or loss on disposition is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent the Company’s right to
use an underlying asset during the lease term, and operating lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the
lease. Operating leases are included in ROU assets, current operating lease liabilities, and long-term operating lease liabilities on our consolidated balance
sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, current finance lease liabilities, and long-term finance lease liabilities on our consolidated
balance sheets.

Lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are initially recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease
term at commencement date calculated using our incremental borrowing rate applicable to the lease asset, unless the implicit rate is readily determinable.
ROU assets also include any lease payments made at or before lease commencement and exclude any lease incentives received. Our lease terms may
include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are
not recognized on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company’s leases do not contain any residual value guarantees. Lease expense for
minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company accounts for lease and non-lease components as a single lease component for all its leases.

Goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill on an annual basis in the fourth quarter or more frequently if management believes indicators of impairment
exist. Such indicators could include, but are not limited to: (1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, (2) unanticipated
competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator. The Company compares the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount and
then recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting units fair value up to the total amount of
goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The Company assessed triggering events indicating potential goodwill impairment and after assessment, concluded
that there was no impairment during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of patents, trademarks, software development costs and the intangible assets acquired in the Cryogene acquisition
which include a non-compete agreement, technology, customer relationships and trade name/trademark. The Company capitalizes costs of obtaining
patents and trademarks, which are amortized, using the straight-line method over their estimated
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useful life of five years once the patent or trademark has been issued. The Company capitalizes certain costs related to software developed for internal use.
Software development costs incurred during the preliminary or maintenance project stages are expensed as incurred, while costs incurred during the
application development stage are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the software, which is
five years. Capitalized costs include purchased materials and costs of services. The non-compete agreement, technology, customer relationships and
Cryogene trade name/trademark acquired in the Cryogene acquisition are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (see Note
7).

The Company evaluates the recoverability of identifiable intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an
intangible asset's carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to: (1) a significant decrease in the market
value of an asset, (2) a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or (3) an accumulation of costs significantly in excess
of the amount originally expected for the acquisition of an asset. The Company measures the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows associated with it. Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying value of the asset being
evaluated, an impairment loss would be recognized. The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its fair value. The estimate of fair value is based on various valuation techniques, including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows.
The evaluation of asset impairment requires the Company to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the asset being evaluated. These
assumptions require significant judgment and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated amounts. There was no impairment of intangible assets
during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

Other Long-lived Assets

If indicators of impairment exist, we assess the recoverability of the affected long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value of such
assets can be recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows. If impairment is indicated, we measure the amount of such impairment by
comparing the fair value to the carrying value. We believe the future cash flows to be received from the long-lived assets will exceed the assets’ carrying
value, and accordingly, we have not recognized any impairment losses through June 30, 2020.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent costs incurred in connection with the issuance of debt instruments and equity financings. Deferred financing
costs related to the issuance of debt are amortized over the term of the financing instrument using the effective interest method and are presented in the
consolidated balance sheets as an offset against the related debt. Offering costs from equity financings are netted against the gross proceeds received from
the equity financings.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the provision of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, or ASC 740. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were no unrecognized tax benefits included in
the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets that would, if recognized, affect the effective tax rates.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided for certain deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that the Company will
not realize tax assets through future operations. Based on the weight of available evidence, the Company’s management has determined that it is more
likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. Therefore, the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against the net deferred
tax assets. The Company’s income tax provision consists of state minimum taxes.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. The Company had no accrual
for interest or penalties on its condensed consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 and has not recognized interest and/or
penalties in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. The Company is subject to taxation in
the U.S. and various state jurisdictions. As of June 30, 2020, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal examinations for years before 2016 and for
California franchise and income tax examinations for years before 2015. However, to the extent allowed by law, the taxing authorities may have the right to
examine prior periods where net
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operating losses were generated and carried forward and make adjustments up to the amount of the net operating loss carry forward amount. The Company
is not currently under examination by U.S. federal or state jurisdictions.

On March 27, 2020, the United States enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (CARES Act).  The Cares Act is an
emergency economic stimulus package that includes spending and tax breaks to strengthen the United States economy and fund a nationwide effort to
curtail the effect of COVID-19.  The CARES Act provides sweeping tax changes in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, some of the more significant
provisions are removal of certain limitations on utilization of net operating losses, increasing the loss carryback period for certain losses to five years, and
increasing the ability to deduct interest expense, as well as amending certain provisions of the previously enacted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.  At June 30, 2020,
the Company has not booked any income tax provision/(benefit) for the impact for the CARES Act due the Company’s history of net operating losses
generated and the maintenance of a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets.  The Company will continue to analyze the impact that the
CARES Act will have, if any, on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when control is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled
to in exchange for those goods and services. Revenue recognition is evaluated through the following five steps: (i) identification of the contract, or
contracts, with a customer; (ii) identification of the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv) allocation of
the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognition of revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied.

Performance Obligations

At contract inception, an assessment of the goods and services promised in the contracts with customers is performed and a performance
obligation is identified for each distinct promise to transfer to the customer a good or service (or bundle of goods or services). To identify the performance
obligations, the Company considers all of the goods or services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or are implied by
customary business practices. Revenue is recognized when our performance obligation has been met. The Company considers control to have transferred
upon delivery because the Company has a present right to payment at that time, the Company has transferred use of the asset, and the customer is able to
direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the asset.

For arrangements under which the Company provides biological specimen storage services and logistics support and management to the customer,
the Company satisfies its performance obligations as those services are performed whereby the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits of such services under the agreement.

Revenue generated from short-term logistics and engineering consulting services provided to customers is recognized when the Company satisfies
the contractually defined performance obligations.

Our performance obligations on our orders and under the terms of agreements with customers are generally satisfied within one year from a given
reporting date and, therefore, we omit disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations on open orders.

Shipping and handling activities related to contracts with customers are accounted for as costs to fulfill our promise to transfer the associated
products pursuant to the accounting policy election allowed under Topic 606 and are not considered a separate performance obligation to our customers.
Accordingly, the Company records amounts billed for shipping and handling as a component of revenue. Shipping and handling fees and costs are included
in cost of revenues in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Revenues are recognized net of any taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental agencies.

Significant Payment Terms

Pursuant to the Company’s contracts with its customers, amounts billed for services or products delivered by the Company are generally due and
payable in full within 15  to 60 days from the date of the invoice (except for any amounts disputed by the customer in good faith). Accordingly, the
Company determined that its contracts with customers do not include extended payment terms or a significant financing component.
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Variable Consideration

Variable consideration is estimated at the most likely amount that is expected to be earned. Estimated amounts are included in the transaction price
to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is resolved. Estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based
largely on an assessment of the anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available

Revenues are recorded net of variable consideration, such as discounts and allowances.

Warranties

The Company’s products and services are generally provided on an “as is” basis and generally no warranties are included in the contracts with
customers. Also, the Company does not offer separately priced extended warranty or product maintenance contracts.

Incremental Direct Costs

The Company expenses incremental direct costs of obtaining a contract (sales commissions) when incurred because the amortization period is
generally 12 months or less. The Company does not incur costs to fulfill a customer contract that meet the requirements for capitalization.

Contract Assets

Typically, we invoice the customer and recognize revenue once we have satisfied our performance obligation. Accordingly, our contract assets
comprise accounts receivable, which are recognized when payment is unconditional and only the passage of time is required before payment is due.
Generally, we do not have material amounts of other contract assets since revenue is recognized as control of goods is transferred or as services are
performed.

Contract Liabilities (Deferred Revenue)

Contract liabilities are recorded when cash payments are received in advance of the Company’s performance. Deferred revenue was $330,300 and
$367,900 at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recognized revenues
of $76,800 and $229,600, respectively from the related contract liabilities outstanding as the services were performed.

Nature of Goods and Services

The Global Logistics Solutions segment provides Cryoport Express® Shippers to its customers and charges a fee in exchange for the use of the
Cryoport Express® Shipper under long-term master service agreements with customers. The Company’s arrangements convey to the customers the right to
use the Cryoport Express® Shippers over a period of time. The Company retains title to the Cryoport Express® Shippers and provides its customers the use
of the Cryoport Express® Shipper for a specified shipping cycle. At the culmination of the customer’s shipping cycle, the Cryoport Express® Shipper is
returned to the Company.

The Global Bioservices segment provides comprehensive and integrated temperature-controlled biostorage solutions to customers in the life
sciences industry and charges a fee under long-term master service agreements with customers. These services include (1) biological specimen
cryopreservation storage and maintenance, (2) archiving, monitoring, tracking, receipt and delivery of samples, (3) transport of frozen biological specimens
to and from customer locations, and (4) management of incoming and outgoing biological specimens.

The vast majority of our revenues are covered under long-term master service agreements. We have determined that individual Statements of
Work or Scope of Work (“SOW”), whose terms and conditions taken with a Master Services Agreement (“MSA”), create the Topic 606 contracts which are
generally short-term in nature (e.g., 15-day shipping cycle) for the Global Logistics Solutions segment and up to 12 months for the Global Bioservices
segment. Our agreements (including SOWs) generally do not have multiple performance obligations and, therefore, do not require an allocation of a single
price amongst multiple goods or services.  Prices under these agreements are generally fixed. The Global Logistics Solutions segment recognizes revenue
for the use of the Cryoport Express® Shipper at the time of the delivery of the Cryoport Express® Shipper to the end user of the enclosed materials, and at
the time that collectability
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is probable. The Global Bioservices segment recognizes revenue as services are rendered over time and at the time that collectability is probable.

The Company also provides logistics support and management to some customers, which may include onsite logistics personnel. Revenue is
recognized for these services as services are rendered over time and at the time that collectability is probable.

The Company also provides short-term logistics and engineering consulting services to some customers, with fees tied to the completion of
contractually defined services. We recognize revenue from these services over time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit of
these services as they are performed.

Revenue Disaggregation

The Company operates in two reportable segments and evaluates financial performance on a Company-wide basis. We consider sales
disaggregated by end-market to depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are impacted by changes in economic
factors. The following table disaggregates our revenues by major source for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(000's omitted )     2020     2019     2020     2019
Global Logistics Solutions:

Biopharmaceutical $ 7,283 $ 6,959 $ 14,800 $ 12,599
Reproductive medicine  601  671  1,363  1,455
Animal health  216  257  441  486

Total Global Logistics Solutions 8,100 7,887 16,604 14,540
Global Bioservices 1,289 577 2,559 577

Total revenues $ 9,389 $ 8,464 $ 19,163 $ 15,117

Our geographical revenues, by origin, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, were as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(000's omitted )     2020     2019     2020     2019
Americas $ 7,403 $ 7,536 $ 15,087 $ 13,705
Europe, the Middle East and Africa (EMEA)  1,763  724  3,695  1,087
Asia Pacific (APAC)  223  204  381  325

Total revenues $ 9,389 $ 8,464 $ 19,163 $ 15,117

Engineering and Development Expenses

Expenditures relating to engineering and development are expensed in the period incurred to engineering and development expense in the
statement of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based payments in accordance with stock-based payment accounting guidance which requires all stock-based
payments to be recognized based upon their fair values. The fair value of stock-based awards is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model (“Black-Scholes”) and the portion that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as compensation cost over the requisite service period.
The determination of fair value using Black-Scholes is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and
subjective variables, including expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, expected dividends and expected term. The Company accounts for
forfeitures of unvested awards as they occur.

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are discussed further in Note 12.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Share

We calculate basic and diluted net loss per share using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the periods presented.
In periods of a net loss position, basic and diluted weighted average common shares are the same. For the diluted
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earnings per share calculation, we adjust the weighted average number of common shares outstanding to include dilutive stock options, warrants and shares
associated with the conversion of convertible debt outstanding during the periods.

The following shows the amounts used in computing net loss per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
    2020     2019     2020     2019

Net loss $ (5,802,746) $ (2,528,491) $ (9,745,639) $ (4,915,393)
Weighted average common shares issued and
outstanding - basic and diluted  38,281,087  31,176,166  37,914,818  30,811,109
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.15) $ (0.08) $ (0.26) $ (0.16)

The following table sets forth the number of shares excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share, as their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
    2020     2019     2020     2019

Stock options  4,536,585  3,926,229 4,163,301  3,443,629
Warrants  190,977  1,058,049 186,670  996,702
Convertible senior notes  4,810,002  1,372,998 4,810,002  1,372,998

 9,537,564  6,357,276 9,159,973  5,813,329

Segment Reporting

We currently operate in two reportable segments, Global Logistics Solutions and Global Bioservices. The chief operating decision maker is our
Chief Executive Officer.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Management has determined that the functional currency of its subsidiaries is the local currency.  Assets and liabilities of the Netherlands and
United Kingdom subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the period-end exchange rates.  Income and expenses are translated at an average exchange
rate for the period and the resulting translation gain (loss) adjustments are accumulated as a separate component of stockholders’ equity.  The translation
gain (loss) adjustment totaled $(2,800) and $(3,900) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 . The translation gain (loss) adjustment totaled
$(1,500) and $(11,600) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019.  Foreign currency gains and losses from transactions denominated in other than
respective local currencies are included in earnings.  Foreign currency gains and losses for all periods presented were not significant.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 Income Taxes (Topic 740) Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The Board issued
this Update as part of its Simplification Initiative to improve areas of GAAP and reduce cost and complexity while maintaining usefulness. The main
provision that impacts the Company is the removal of the exception to the incremental approach of intra-period tax allocation when there is a loss from
continuing operations and income or gain from other items (for example, discontinued operations and other comprehensive income). ASU 2019-12 is
effective for annual periods, and interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted, including
adoption in an interim period. The Company has elected to early adopt ASU 2019-12. By early adopting, ASU 2019-12 becomes effective as of the
beginning of 2020, however, there is no cumulative effect to be recognized with the early adoption.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, "Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement," which is part of the FASB disclosure framework project to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the
notes to the financial statements. The amendments in the new guidance remove, modify, and add
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certain disclosure requirements related to fair value measurements covered in Topic 820, "Fair Value Measurement." The new standard is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for either the entire standard or only the requirements that modify or eliminate
the disclosure requirements, with certain requirements applied prospectively, and all other requirements applied retrospectively to all periods presented. We
adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020.  The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements or disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment”,
which is intended to simplify the subsequent accounting for goodwill acquired in a business combination. Prior guidance required utilizing a two-step
process to review goodwill for impairment. A second step was required if there was an indication that an impairment may exist, and the second step
required calculating the potential impairment by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill (as if purchase accounting were
performed on the testing date) with the carrying amount of the goodwill. The new guidance eliminates the second step from the goodwill impairment test.
Under the new guidance, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its
carrying amount, and then recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value (although
the loss should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit). The guidance requires prospective adoption and will be effective
for annual or interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019.  We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020.  The
adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements or disclosures.

Accounting Guidance Issued but Not Adopted at June 30, 2020

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, “Investments—Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures
(Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815.” The new guidance
clarifies the interaction of accounting for the transition into and out of the equity method and the accounting for measuring certain purchased options and
forward contracts to acquire investments. ASU 2020-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within
those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, "Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments." This ASU replaces the incurred loss
impairment methodology in current U.S. GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of
reasonable and supportable information for credit loss estimates on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables. In addition, new
disclosures are required. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10 "Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates." whether an entity is eligible  to be a smaller reporting company is based on the entity's most recent
determination as of November 15, 2019 in accordance with SEC regulations.  As a result, ASU 2016-13, as subsequently amended, is effective for the
Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 based on the Company's smaller reporting company determination as of November 15, 2019.
 We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance.  The Company currently believes the main impact of the new standard will relate to the
Company’s assessment of its allowance for doubtful accounts on trade receivables.

Note 4. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

    June 30,     December 31, 
2020 2019

Cash $ 16,969,290 $ 3,546,893
Cash equivalents:   

Money market mutual fund  27,356,748  43,687,877
Total cash and cash equivalents  44,326,038  47,234,770

Short-term investments:     
U.S. Treasury notes  149,506,840  21,094,100
Mutual funds  14,384,991  25,966,686

Total short-term investments  163,891,831  47,060,786
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 208,217,869 $ 94,295,556
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Available-for-sale investments

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale investments by type of security at June 30,
2020 were as follows:

    Amortized     Unrealized     Unrealized     
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S. Treasury notes $ 149,225,205 $ 324,539 $ (42,904) $ 149,506,840
Total available-for-sale investments $ 149,225,205 $ 324,539 $ (42,904) $ 149,506,840

The following table summarizes the fair value of available-for-sale investments based on stated contractual maturities as of June 30, 2020:

    Amortized Cost     Fair Value
Due within one year $ 134,131,660 $ 134,133,950
Due between one and two years  15,093,545 15,372,890
Total $ 149,225,205 $ 149,506,840

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale investments by type of security at
December 31, 2019 were as follows:

    Amortized     Unrealized     Unrealized     
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

U.S. Treasury notes $ 21,121,659 $ 26,552 $ (54,111) $ 21,094,100
Total available-for-sale investments $ 21,121,659 $ 26,552 $ (54,111) $ 21,094,100

The following table summarizes the fair value of available-for-sale investments based on stated contractual maturities as of December 31, 2019:

    Amortized Cost     Fair Value
Due within one year $ 12,043,525 $ 12,046,700
Due between one and two years  9,078,134  9,047,400

Total $ 21,121,659 $ 21,094,100

The primary objective of our investment portfolio is to enhance overall returns in an efficient manner while maintaining safety of principal,
prudent levels of liquidity and acceptable levels of risk. Our investment policy limits interest-bearing security investments to certain types of debt and
money market instruments issued by institutions with primarily investment-grade credit ratings, and it places restrictions on maturities and concentration
by asset class and issuer.

We review our available-for-sale investments for other-than-temporary declines in fair value below our cost basis each quarter and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the cost basis of an asset may not be recoverable. The evaluation is based on a number of factors,
including the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been below our cost basis, as well as adverse conditions related specifically to the
security such as any changes to the credit rating of the security and the intent to sell or whether we will more likely than not be required to sell the security
before recovery of its amortized cost basis. Our assessment of whether a security is other-than-temporarily impaired could change in the future based on
new developments or changes in assumptions related to that particular security.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we had realized gains of $4,900 and $16,900, respectively, on available-for-sale
investments.

Equity Investments

We held investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values of $14.4 million at June 30, 2020. These investments consist of
mutual funds that invest primarily in tax-free municipal bonds and treasury inflation protected securities.
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Unrealized gains (losses) during 2020 related to equity securities held at June 30, 2020 are as follows:

Net losses recognized during the six months on equity securities     $ (468,194)
Less: net gains (losses) recognized during the period on equity securities sold during the period  (804,772)

Unrealized gains recognized during the six months on equity securities still held at June 30, 2020 $ 336,578

Note 5. Fair Value Measurements

We measure fair value based on the prices that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are based on a three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair
value. These tiers include the following:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date. The fair value
hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data. These inputs include quoted
prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted market prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3
inputs.

In determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs
to the extent possible, as well as consider counterparty credit risk in the assessment of fair value.

We did not elect the fair value option, as allowed, to account for financial assets and liabilities that were not previously carried at fair value.
Therefore, material financial assets and liabilities that are not carried at fair value, such as trade accounts receivable and payable, are reported at their
historical carrying values.

The carrying values of our assets that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019
approximate fair value because of our ability to immediately convert these instruments into cash with minimal expected change in value which are
classified in the table below in one of the three categories of the fair value hierarchy described above:

Fair Value Measurements
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total

June 30, 2020             
Cash equivalents:             

Money market mutual fund $ 27,356,748 $ — $ — $ 27,356,748
Marketable equity securities:         

Mutual funds  14,384,991  —  —  14,384,991
Available-for-sale debt securities:             

U.S. Treasury notes  149,506,840  —  —  149,506,840
$ 191,248,579 $ — $ — $ 191,248,579
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Fair Value Measurements
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total

December 31, 2019             
Cash equivalents:             

Money market mutual fund $ 43,687,877 $ — $ — $ 43,687,877
Marketable equity securities:             

Mutual funds  25,966,686  —  —  25,966,686
Available-for-sale debt securities:             

U.S. Treasury notes  21,094,100  —  —  21,094,100
$ 90,748,663 $ — $ — $ 90,748,663

Our equity securities and available-for-sale debt securities, including U.S. treasury notes are valued using inputs observable in active markets for
identical securities and are therefore classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy.

We did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2020.

We carry the convertible senior notes at face value less the unamortized discount and issuance costs on our condensed consolidated balance sheets
at present fair value for disclosure purposes only.  As of June 30, 2020 the estimated fair value of the convertible senior notes was $95.2 million as was
determined using the net present value of the payments, discounted at an interest rate that is consistent with market and risk-adjusted interest rates, which is
a Level 2 input.

Note 6. Segment Reporting

We currently operate in two reportable segments: Global Logistics Solutions and Global Bioservices. The Global Logistics Solutions segment
provides temperature-controlled logistics solutions to the life sciences industry through its purpose-built proprietary packaging, information technology and
specialized cold chain logistics expertise. The Company provides leading edge logistics solutions to the biopharma, reproductive medicine and animal
health markets to ship, store and deliver biologic materials, such as immunotherapies, stem cells, CAR-T cell therapies, vaccines and reproductive cells for
clients worldwide. The Global Bioservices segment provides a comprehensive temperature-controlled sample management solution to the life science
industry, including specimen storage, sample processing, collection, and retrieval. The spectrum of temperature-controlled solutions provided by the
Company ranges from ambient, or controlled room temperature (15°C to 25°C), refrigerated (2°C to 8°C), to frozen and cryogenic (below 0°C to as low as
−150°C). Our Chief Executive Officer is the chief operating decision maker for both segments.

The Company derives the results of the segments directly from its internal management reporting system.  The accounting policies of the
operating segments are substantially the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.  The Company evaluates segment
performance on the basis of revenues and profit or loss.  Management uses these operating results, in part, to evaluate the performance of, and to allocate
resources to, each of the segments.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services.  They are managed separately because
each business requires different sales and marketing strategies and operational skillsets.  The Global Bioservices segment is currently comprised of the
Cryogene business that was acquired in May 2019, and the management at the time of the acquisition was retained.
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Reportable segment information is presented in the following tables:

    Three Months Ended June 30, 2020
Global Logistics Global

    Solutions     Bioservices     Total
Revenues  $ 8,099,533  $ 1,289,473  $ 9,389,006
Interest expense  (398,256) —  (398,256)
Depreciation and amortization expense (444,767) (399,514) (844,281)
Segment operating profit or loss  (5,967,764) 122,323  (5,845,441)
Other significant items:    

Segment assets  227,984,586  24,792,001  252,776,587
Goodwill — 10,999,722 10,999,722
Expenditures for long-lived assets  (1,458,775) (530,512) (1,989,287)

    Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
    Global Logistics     Global     

Solutions Bioservices Total
Revenues  $ 16,604,446  $ 2,558,635  $ 19,163,081
Interest expense  (400,707) —  (400,707)
Depreciation and amortization expense (839,776) (828,934) (1,668,710)
Segment operating profit or loss (9,601,621) 169,949 (9,431,672)
Other significant items:

Segment assets 227,984,586 24,792,001 252,776,587
Goodwill — 10,999,722 10,999,722
Expenditures for long-lived assets (2,595,135) (801,717) (3,396,852)

Revenues from one customer of the Company’s Global Bioservices segment represents approximately 82.1% and 82.5% of that segment’s net
revenues and 11.3% and 11.0 % of the Company’s consolidated net revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 , respectively.

Note 7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

As of June 30, 2020, the carrying value of goodwill is $11.0 million which is allocated to the Global Bioservices reportable segment.

Intangible Assets

The following table presents our intangible assets as of June 30, 2020:

Weighted
Average

Gross Accumulated Net Amortization
    Amount     Amortization     Carrying Amount     Period (years)

Non-compete agreement $ 390,000 $ 84,500 $ 305,500  5
Technology  510,000  110,500  399,500  5
Customer relationships  3,900,000  352,083  3,547,917  12
Cryogene trade name/trademark  480,000  34,667  445,333  15
Cryoport patents and trademarks  333,137  47,375  285,762  —

Total $ 5,613,137 $ 629,125 $ 4,984,012  
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The following table presents our intangible assets as of December 31, 2019:

Weighted
Average

Gross Accumulated Net Amortization
    Amount     Amortization     Carrying Amount     Period (years)

Non-compete agreement $ 390,000 $ 45,500 $ 344,500 5
Technology 510,000 59,500 450,500 5
Customer relationships 3,900,000 189,583 3,710,417 12
Cryogene trade name/trademark 480,000 18,667 461,333 15
Cryoport patents and trademarks 258,203 47,375 210,828 —

Total $ 5,538,203 $ 360,625 $ 5,177,578  

Amortization expense for intangible assets for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 was $134,250 and $268,500, respectively.

Amortization expense for intangible assets for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 was $44,800.

Expected future amortization of intangible assets as of June 30, 2020 is as follows:

Years Ending December 31,     Amount
Remainder of 2020 $ 268,500
2021  537,000
2022  537,000
2023  537,000
2024  432,000
Thereafter  2,386,750

$ 4,698,250

Note 8. Convertible Senior Notes

In May 2020, the Company issued $115.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.00% convertible senior notes due in 2025 (the "Notes"), which
includes the initial purchasers' exercise in full of their option to purchase an additional $15.0 million principal amount of the Notes, in a private placement
to qualified institutional buyers exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933. The Notes are governed by an indenture (the "Indenture") dated
May 26, 2020 between the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"). The Company received $111.3 million from
the offering, net of underwriting discounts and commissions of $3.7 million, and incurred approximately $345,200 in third-party offering related costs. The
Notes bear cash interest at a rate of 3.00%, payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning on December 1, 2020 and will mature
on June 1, 2025, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed, or converted in accordance with the terms of the Notes. At June 30, 2020, interest of $335,400 is
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.  The Notes comprise the Company’s
senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with the Company’s existing and future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in
right of payment to the Company’s existing and future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; (iii) effectively subordinated to the
Company’s existing and future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally
subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, and (to the extent the Company is not a holder thereof)
preferred equity, if any, of the Company’s subsidiaries.

At any time before the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date, holders of the Notes may convert
their Notes at their option into shares of the Company's common stock. The Notes are initially convertible into approximately 4,810,002 shares of the
Company's common stock based on the initial conversion rate of 41.8261 shares of the Company's common stock per $1,000 principal amount of the
Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $23.91 per share of the Company's common stock. The conversion rate and
conversion price are subject to customary adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events. Also, if certain corporate events that constitute a "Make-
Whole Fundamental Change" (as defined in the Indenture) occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a specified period
of time and is determined by reference to a make-whole table set forth in the Indenture governing the Notes. However, in no event will the conversion rate
be increased to an amount that exceeds 48.10 shares of the Company's common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Notes. In addition, the holders of the
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Notes may require the Company to repurchase the Notes at par value plus accrued and unpaid interest following the occurrence of a "Fundamental
Change" (as described in the Indenture).

On or after June 5, 2023, we may redeem the Notes at our option, in whole and not in part, at a cash redemption price equal to the principal
amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, if:

(1) The last reported sale price per share of the Company's common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price on (i) each of at least 20
trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day immediately
before the date the Company send the related redemption notice; and (ii) the trading day immediately before the date the Company sends
such notice; and

(2) A registration statement covering the resale of the shares of the Company's common stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes is
effective and available for use and is expected to remain effective and available during the redemption period as of the date the
redemption notice is sent.

The Notes contain customary terms and events of default. If an event of default arising out of certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency, or
reorganization involving the Company or a significant subsidiary (as set forth in the Indenture) occurs with respect to the Company, the principal amount
of the Notes and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, will automatically become immediately due and payable. If any other event of default (as defined in
the Indenture) occurs and is continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes may
declare the principal amount of the Notes to be due and payable immediately by notice to the Company. There were no events of default at June 30, 2020.

The Notes are accounted for in accordance with ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options ("ASC 470-20") and ASC 815-40,
Contracts in Entity's Own Equity ("ASC 815-40"). Under ASC 815-40, to qualify for equity classification (or nonbifurcation, if embedded) the instrument
(or embedded feature) must be both (1) indexed to the issuer's stock and (2) meet the requirements of the equity classification guidance. Based upon the
Company's analysis, it was determined the Notes do contain embedded features indexed to its own stock, but do not meet the requirements for bifurcation,
and therefore do not need to be separately accounted for as an equity component. Since the embedded conversion feature meets the equity scope exception
from derivative accounting, and also since the embedded conversion option does not need to be separately accounted for as an equity component under
ASC 470-20, the proceeds received from the issuance of the convertible debt was recorded as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company incurred approximately $4.1 million of debt issuance costs relating to the issuance of the Notes, which were recorded as a reduction
to the Notes on the consolidated balance sheet. The debt issuance costs are being amortized and recognized as additional interest expense over the expected
life of the Notes using the effective interest rate method. We determined the expected life of the debt is equal to the five-year term of the Notes. The
effective interest rate on the Notes is 3.74%.

Notes payable consisted of the following at June 30, 2020:

    June 30, 2020
Principal amount of Notes $ 115,000,000
Unamortized debt issuance costs  (4,022,581)
Net carrying value of Notes payable $ 110,977,419

Interest expense incurred in connection with the Notes consisted of the following for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020:

Coupon interest     $ 335,417
Amortization of debt issuance costs  60,105
Total interest expense on Notes $ 395,522
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The following table summarizes the total gross principal payments due under the Company's  Notes payable:

Years Ending December 31,         
Remainder of 2020 $ —
2021  —
2022  —
2023  —
2024  —
2025  115,000,000
Total Payments $ 115,000,000

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the "Registration Rights Agreement") to
use its best efforts to file a registration statement for the resale of the Notes and the shares of the Company's common stock issuable upon conversion of the
Notes, to cause the registration statement to become effective by January 31, 2021, and to keep the registration statement continuously effective for a
specified period of time. If the Company fails to satisfy certain of its obligations under the Registration Rights Agreement (a "Registration Default"), it will
be required to pay additional interest on the Notes. Such additional interest will accrue at a rate per annum equal to 0.25% of the principal amount thereof
for the first 90 days beginning on, and including the date on which such Registration Default occurs and, thereafter, at a rate per annum equal to 0.50% of
the principal amount thereof. However, in no event will such additional interest, together with any special interest that accrues pursuant to the Indenture
accrue on any day on a Note at a combined rate per annum that exceeds 0.50%. Additionally, if a Registration Default exists on the maturity date for the
Notes, then, in addition to any additional interest otherwise payable, the Company will be required to make a cash payment to each noteholder in an
amount equal to 3% of the principal amount of Notes outstanding and held by such holder as of the close of business on the business day immediately
before the maturity date. As of June 30, 2020, the Company has not accrued any fees or expenses associated with the Registration Rights Agreement as no
Registration Default exists and, therefore, it is not probable that a payment would be required.

Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies

Facility and Equipment Leases

We lease 27,600 square feet of corporate, research and development, and logistics facilities in Irvine, California under an operating lease expiring
February 2023, subject to our option to extend the lease for two additional five-year periods. The initial base rent is approximately $24,700 per month. We
also lease 8,100 square feet of logistics facilities in Livingston, New Jersey under an operating lease expiring December 2024, subject to our option to
extend the lease for an additional five-year period. The initial base rent is approximately $7,600 per month. In addition, we lease 7,600 square feet of
logistics facilities in Hoofddorp, the Netherlands under an operating lease expiring May 2023, subject to our option to extend the lease for two additional
five-year periods. The initial base rent is approximately $5,400 per month. We also lease a total of 21,476 square feet of corporate and logistics facilities in
Houston, Texas in two adjacent buildings under operating leases expiring in January 2024. The aggregate initial base rent is approximately $22,000 per
month. We also lease a 4,190 square foot corporate facility in Brentwood, Tennessee under an operating lease expiring August 2024. The initial base rent is
approximately $11,000 per month. These lease agreements contain certain scheduled annual rent increases which are accounted for on a straight-line basis.
In addition, we lease certain equipment which expires through January 2024.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our officers under which payment and benefits would become payable in the event
of termination by us for any reason other than cause, or upon a change in control of our Company, or by the employee for good reason.

Litigation

The Company may become a party to product litigation in the normal course of business. The Company accrues for open claims based on its
historical experience and available insurance coverage.

We record a loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We also
disclose material contingencies when we believe a loss is not probable but reasonably possible. Accounting for contingencies requires us to use judgment
related to both the likelihood of a loss and the estimate of the amount or range of loss. The
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outcomes of our legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable, subject to significant uncertainties, and could be material to our financial condition, results
of operations, and cash flows for a particular period.

Indemnities and Guarantees

The Company has made certain indemnities and guarantees, under which it may be required to make payments to a guaranteed or indemnified
party, in relation to certain actions or transactions. The guarantees and indemnities do not provide for any limitation of the maximum potential future
payments the Company could be obligated to make. Historically, the Company has not been obligated nor incurred any payments for these obligations and,
therefore, no liabilities have been recorded for these indemnities and guarantees in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Company indemnifies its directors, officers, employees and agents, as permitted under the laws of the States of California and Nevada. In
connection with its facility and equipment leases, the Company has indemnified its lessors for certain claims arising from the use of the facilities and
equipment. The duration of the guarantees and indemnities varies and is generally tied to the life of the agreements.

Note 10. Leases

The Company has operating and finance leases for corporate offices and certain equipment. These leases have remaining lease terms of two years
to approximately ten years, some of which include options to extend the leases for multiple renewal periods of five years each. As of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, assets recorded under finance leases were $269,400 and $71,000, respectively, and accumulated depreciation associated with finance
leases was $46,900 and $22,800, respectively.

The components of lease cost were as follows:

Six Months
Ended

    June 30, 2020
Operating lease cost $ 601,020

 
Finance lease cost:  

Amortization of right-of-use assets $ 17,900
Interest on finance lease liabilities  5,011

 22,911
 

Total lease cost $ 623,931
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Other information related to leases was as follows:

Six Months
Ended

Supplemental Cash Flows Information     June 30, 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:    

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 587,535
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 20,300
Financing cash flows from finance leases $ 17,500

   
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:    

Operating leases $ 1,804,281
Finance leases $ 202,619

Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term    
Operating leases  7.3 years
Finance leases  3.3 years

   
Weighted-Average Discount Rate    

Operating leases  6.7 %
Finance leases  5.4 %

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases as of June 30, 2020 were as follows:

    Operating     Finance
Years Ending December 31, Leases Leases
2020 (excluding the six months ended June 30,2020) $ 860,504 $ 42,109
2021  2,036,899  65,357
2022  2,105,754  56,710
2023  1,574,928  58,583
2024  1,469,719  —
2025  1,099,779  —
Thereafter 4,497,242 —

Total future minimum lease payments  13,644,825  222,759
Less imputed interest  (7,456,009)  (18,243)

Total $ 6,188,816 $ 204,516

    Operating     Finance
Reported as of June 30, 2020 Leases Leases
Current lease liabilities $ 691,386 $ 57,946
Noncurrent lease liabilities  5,497,430  146,570
Total $ 6,188,816 $ 204,516

Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity

Authorized Stock

The Company has 100,000,000 authorized shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share, and 2,500,000 undesignated or “blank
check” preferred stock, with a par value of $0.001, of which, 800,000 shares have been designated as Class A Convertible Preferred Stock and 585,000
shares have been designated as Class B Convertible Preferred Stock.

Common Stock Issued for Services

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, 1,968 shares of common stock with a fair value of $41,300 were issued to two members of the board
of directors as compensation for services.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2019, 3,239 shares of common stock with a fair value of $49,700 were issued to three members of the board
of directors as compensation for services.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

As of June 30, 2020, approximately 8.0 million shares of common stock were issuable upon conversion or exercise of rights granted under prior
financing arrangements, stock options and warrants, as follows:

Exercise of stock options     7,741,530
Exercise of warrants  227,477
Total shares of common stock reserved for future issuances  7,969,007

In addition, we reserved 4,810,002 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of our convertible senior notes (see Note 8).

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of the Company's common
stock in the amount of up to $15.0 million from time to time, in amounts, at prices, and at such times as management deems appropriate and will depend on
a number of factors, including the market price of the Company's common stock, general market and economic conditions, and applicable legal
requirements. The repurchase program will expire on December 31, 2020 and may be extended, suspended, modified or discontinued at any time. Any
repurchases will be funded from cash on hand and future cash flows from operations. The Company did not purchase any shares under this program in
2019 and has not purchased any shares under this program in 2020.

June 2019 Public Offering

On June 24, 2019, the Company completed an underwritten public offering (the “Offering”) of 4,312,500 shares of its common stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Public Offering Shares”). The Public Offering Shares were issued and sold pursuant to an underwriting agreement (the
“Underwriting Agreement”), dated June 19, 2019, by and among the Company, on the one hand, and Jefferies LLC and SVB Leerink LLC, as
representatives of certain underwriters (collectively, the “Underwriters”) at a public offering price per share of $17.00. The Public Offering Shares include
562,500 shares issued and sold pursuant to the Underwriters’ exercise in full of their option to purchase additional shares of common stock pursuant to the
Underwriting Agreement. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $68.8 million from the Offering after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by the Company.

Note 12. Stock-Based Compensation

Warrant Activity

We typically issue warrants to purchase shares of our common stock to investors as part of a financing transaction or in connection with services
rendered by placement agents and consultants. Our outstanding warrants expire in July 2020. A summary of warrant activity is as follows:

            Weighted-     
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price/Share Term (Years) Value (1)

Outstanding — December 31, 2019  1,001,028 $ 3.83       
Issued  —  —       
Exercised  (757,865)  3.86       
Expired  (15,686)  6.00       

Outstanding — June 30, 2020  227,477 $ 3.57  0.1 $ 6,069,100
Vested (exercisable) — June 30, 2020  227,477 $ 3.57  0.1 $ 6,069,100

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price of the warrant and the closing market price of our common stock on
June 30, 2020, which was $30.25 per share.
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Total intrinsic value of warrants exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $11.6 million.

Stock Options

We have five stock incentive plans: the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Plan”), the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”), the 2011
Stock Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”), the 2015 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), and the 2018 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the
“2018 Plan”), (collectively, the “Plans”). The 2002 Plan, the 2009 Plan, the 2011 Plan and the 2015 Plan (the “Prior Plans”) have been superseded by the
2018 Plan. In May 2018, the stockholders approved the 2018 Plan for issuances up to an aggregate of 3,730,179 shares. The Prior Plans will remain in
effect until all awards granted under such Prior Plans have been exercised, forfeited, cancelled, or have otherwise expired or terminated in accordance with
the terms of such awards, but no awards will be made pursuant to the Prior Plans after the effectiveness of the 2018 Plan. As of June 30, 2020, the
Company had 1,124,624 shares available for future awards under the 2018 Plan.

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we granted stock options at exercise prices equal to the quoted market price of our common stock on
the grant date. The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using Black-Scholes with the following weighted average
assumptions:

Expected life (years)     5.3 – 6.3
Risk-free interest rate  0.4% - 1.7 %
Volatility  69.8% – 77.3 %
Dividend yield  0 %

The expected option life assumption is estimated based on the simplified method.  Accordingly, the Company has utilized the average of the
contractual term of the options and the weighted average vesting period for all options to calculate the expected option term.  The risk-free interest rate
assumption is based upon observed interest rates appropriate for the expected term of our employee stock options. In April 2019, the Company amended its
expected volatility assumption from using exclusively a historical volatility. The Company calculates its expected volatility assumption based on a blended
volatility using an average of its historical and implied volatilities over the expected life of the stock-based award. The selection of the blended volatility
assumption was based upon the Company’s assessment that blended volatility is more representative of the Company’s future stock price trends as it
weighed in the longer term historical volatility with the near-term future implied volatility. We do not anticipate paying dividends on the common stock in
the foreseeable future.

We recognize stock-based compensation expense over the vesting period using the straight-line method. Stock-based compensation expense is
recognized only for those awards that vest. We account for the forfeitures of unvested awards as they occur.

Total stock-based compensation expense related to all of our share-based payment awards is comprised of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, 

    2020     2019     2020     2019
Cost of revenues $ 82,893 $ 101,999 $ 151,489 $ 164,752
General and administrative  1,442,467  1,343,984  2,517,636  2,284,123
Sales and marketing  601,319  443,253  969,647  782,328
Engineering and development  174,818  102,519  283,103  174,287

$ 2,301,497 $ 1,991,755 $ 3,921,875 $ 3,405,490
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A summary of stock option activity is as follows:

            Weighted-     
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price/Share Term (Years) Value (1)

Outstanding — December 31, 2019  6,679,581 $ 7.14       
Granted (weighted-average fair value of $11.08 per share)  1,573,000  17.34       
Exercised  (465,573)  6.43       
Forfeited  (43,811)  10.12       
Expired (1,667) 22.68

Outstanding — June 30, 2020  7,741,530 $ 9.23  7.0 $ 162,705,100
Vested (exercisable) — June 30, 2020  5,811,748 $ 6.75  6.2 $ 136,551,100
Expected to vest after June 30, 2020 (unexercisable)  1,929,782 $ 16.70  9.6 $ 26,154,000

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the exercise price of the option and the closing market price of our common stock on June
30, 2020, which was $30.25 per share.

Total intrinsic value of options exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $7.1 million.

As of June 30, 2020, there was unrecognized compensation expense of $20.1 million related to unvested stock options, which we expect to
recognize over a weighted average period of 3.1 years.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Quarterly Report”), the terms “Cryoport,” “Company” and similar terms refer to Cryoport, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context suggest otherwise.

SAFE HARBOR FOR FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS:

This Quarterly Report contains forward-looking statements that have been made pursuant to the provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and concern matters that involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected in the
forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue” or similar words which are intended to identify forward-looking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contain these words. Although we believe that our opinions and expectations reflected in the forward-looking
statements are reasonable as of the date of this Quarterly Report, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements, and
our actual results may differ substantially from the views and expectations set forth in this Quarterly Report. You should be aware that these statements are
projections or estimates as to future events and are subject to a number of factors that may tend to influence the accuracy of the statements. These forward-
looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by the Company or any other person that the events or plans of the Company will be
achieved. You should not unduly rely on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report. We undertake no
obligation to publicly revise any forward-looking statement to reflect circumstances or events after the date of this Quarterly Report or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events. You should, however, review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we file from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), including those contained in this Quarterly Report, our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019, as filed with the SEC on March 10, 2020  ,our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the
SEC on May 8, 2020, and those reports filed after the date of this Quarterly Report. Actual results may differ materially from any forward looking
statement.

The following management’s discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) should be read in
conjunction with the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2020 (unaudited) and the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019
(audited) and the related unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, and stockholders equity for the three months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, and cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 and the related notes thereto (see Item 1.
Financial Statements), as well as the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, included in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

General Overview

Overview

Cryoport Inc. (“Cryoport”, “we”, or “our”) is a life sciences services company that is an integral part of the temperature-controlled supply chain
supporting the biopharma, reproductive medicine and animal health markets. We are redefining logistics for the life sciences industry by providing a
unique platform of critical solutions including highly differentiated temperature-controlled logistics and biostorage services. Through our products,
services and unparalleled expertise, we enable our clients to ship, store and deliver cellular-based materials and drug products as well as other life sciences
commodities in a precise, defined temperature-controlled state. We provide a platform of fully integrated, temperature-controlled solutions to the life
sciences industry through a seamless combination of proprietary packaging, information technology, and specialized cold-chain logistics knowhow. Our
solutions integrate “chain-of-condition,” “chain-of-custody”, and Chain of ComplianceTM information into a single data stream. Our competencies and
capabilities are used to develop solutions that are customized to our client’s requirements. We provide comprehensive and reliable technology-centric
alternatives to traditional temperature-controlled distribution/logistics solutions. Our platform of services are utilized for temperature controlled shipping
and storage in the life sciences industry; e.g., personalized medicine, cell therapies, stem cells, cell lines, vaccines, diagnostic materials, semen, eggs,
embryos, cord blood, bio-pharmaceuticals, infectious substances, and other commodities that require continuous exposure to certain ranges of precision
controlled temperatures. As part of our services, our technologies provide the ability for us, or our client, to monitor location and other specified critical
variables for each shipment in real time, which is recorded and archived for each shipment for scientific, quality assurance and regulatory purposes. This
information enables an audit trail that can verify the ‘in shipment’ condition of the life sciences commodity, material, product or therapy being shipped.
Included in our tailored solutions, Cryoport’s technology is designed to support clinical trials, Biologics License Applications
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(BLA), Investigational New Drug Applications and New Drug Application (NDA) with the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as well as
commercial distribution. One of the most important features of our Cryoport Express® Solutions is the sophisticated, cloud-based, logistics management
platform, which is branded as the Cryoportal® Logistics Management Platform (the “Cryoportal®”). The Cryoportal® supports the management of
shipments through a single interface, which includes order entry, document preparation, customs documentation, courier management, near real-time
shipment tracking and monitoring, issue resolution, and regulatory compliance requirements. In addition, it provides unique and incisive information
dashboards and validation documentation for every shipment through data collected by the SmartPak™ Condition Monitoring System (the “SmartPakTM”).
The Cryoportal® can record and retain a fully documented history of all Cryoport Express® Shippers, including chain-of-custody, chain-of-condition,
chain-of-identity, and Chain of ComplianceTM information for each shipment, which is used to ensure that the stability of shipped biologic commodities
are maintained throughout the shipping cycle. At the client’s option, recorded information is archived, allowing the client to meet exacting requirements
necessary for scientific work and/or proof of regulatory compliance during the logistics process.

Our Cryoport Express® Solutions include a family of Cryoport Express® Shippers ranging from liquid nitrogen dry vapor shippers (-150℃) to our
C3TM Shippers, which are powered by phase-change materials. The Cryoport Express® Shippers are precision-engineered assemblies that are reliable, cost-
effective and reusable or recyclable. Our liquid nitrogen dry vapor Cryoport Express® Shippers utilize an innovative application of ‘dry vapor’ liquid
nitrogen technology and, most often, include a SmartPakTM Condition Monitoring System. Our Cryoport Express® Shippers are purpose built. One
example is the launch of our Advanced Therapy Shippers™ for the Regenerative Medicine market, the development of which was announced in
September 2019. The Cryoport Express® Advanced Therapy Shippers™ are designed to ensure that each shipper has only been used for human-based
therapies and materials. Additionally, the Advanced Therapy Shippers™ provide complete traceability of the condition in which the commodity was
shipped and all supporting equipment and components. The Advanced Therapy Shippers™ also provide verification information and supply chain support
for biopharma companies developing and commercializing cell and gene therapies as well as employ advanced validated cleaning methods to minimize the
risk of cross contamination of equipment and materials during use, delivery and distribution of biopharmaceutical materials.

During 2019, we added bioservices to our platform of solutions to provide for our clients’ needs for comprehensive and integrated solutions
offerings and the expected growth in the global biostorage and bioservices markets, which are driven by the acceleration of clinical trials and the
commercialization of regenerative medicine therapies on a global basis. Through our recent acquisition of the biostorage business of Cryogene Partners
(“Cryogene”), we now provide cGMP compliant, comprehensive temperature-controlled sample management solution to the life science industry,
including specimen storage, sample processing, collection, and retrieval. Cryogene operates a recently expanded 21,000 square foot state-of-the-art
biostorage facility located in Houston, Texas, specializing in the secure storage of biological specimens, materials and samples.

Strategic Logistics Alliances and Collaborations

We have been successful in establishing strategic alliances around the world, under our Compliance Unified Ecosystem™ and “powered by
cryoport®” strategies, as a long-term method of marketing our solutions to the life sciences industry. We have focused our efforts on leading companies in
the logistics services industry as well as participants in the life sciences industry. These strategies drive integration of our solutions into our alliance
partner’s services.

Cryoport supports the three largest integrators in the world, FedEx, DHL and UPS, with its advanced cryogenic logistics solutions for the life
sciences industry and for logistics support. Our Compliance Unified Ecosystem™ includes the following alliance partners: McKesson Specialty Health, a
division of McKesson Corporation, World Courier, a part of AmerisourceBergen, Be The Match BioTherapies®, EVERSANA™, Vineti, Medipal Holdings,
and Lonza.

The goal of the partnership is to provide fully integrated solutions including, but not limited to, co-location of manufacturing, bioservices and
distribution facilities to improve and enhance responsiveness and optimized product workflow, automated data management providing integrated data
entry, and process optimization that reduces risk, increases transparency and improves certainty.

The goal of the partnership is to provide fully integrated solutions including, but not limited to, co-location of manufacturing, bioservices and
distribution facilities to improve and enhance responsiveness and optimized product workflow, automated data management providing integrated data
entry, and process optimization that reduces risk, increases transparency and improves certainty.

We believe Cryoport is well positioned as a life sciences platform company focused on redefining logistics by providing a platform of advanced
solutions such as temperature-controlled logistics, bioservices and end-product fulfillment, to the regenerative medicine, reproductive medicine and animal
health markets. Our differentiated platform of products and services enable our clients to
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ship, store and deliver biologics and other commodities required to remain in a continual cryogenic or temperature-controlled state, such as CAR-T
therapies and other cell therapies, gene therapies, embryos for reproductive medicine, vaccines, and stem cells. Our standard-setting Chain of
ComplianceTM, which includes vital analytics, including chain-of-condition and chain-of-custody information, in a single data stream, allows our clients
continuous vigilance over their commodities through traceability of the equipment used and the processes employed to minimize risk and maximize
success in the development of new products and therapies.

Life Sciences Agreements

Our clients include life sciences companies and institutions that have engaged us to support their clinical studies and trials as well as Our clients
include life sciences companies and institutions that have engaged us to support their clinical studies and trials as well as the global distribution of their
commercial biologics, vaccines and other products with our platform of temperature-controlled logistics and bioservices solutions. Our most significant
agreements are as follows:

Novartis. In May 2017, we signed an agreement with Novartis Inc. to manage the global clinical and commercial shipments of its CAR-T cell
therapies, including the commercial launch of CAR-T cell therapy, KYMRIAH® (CTL019), for children and young adults with B-cell ALL that is
refractory or has relapsed at least twice. On August 30, 2017 Novartis received from the FDA the first ever CAR-T cell approval for the first indication of
KYMRIAH®.  Subsequently on May 1, 2018, the FDA approved KYMRIAH® for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed/refractory DLBCL.
Thereafter, Novartis announced that KYMRIAH® was approved for both ALL and DLBCL by the EU on August 27, 2018. As of June 30, 2020 Novartis,
has qualified over 240 treatment centers and over 25 countries worldwide have coverage for at least one indication of KYMRIAH®.  Novartis reported Q2
2020 revenue of $118 million from KYMRIAH® compared to $58 million for Q2 2019  During the first quarter of 2020 KYMRIAH® received the FDA
Regenerative Medicine Advanced Therapy designation for the treatment of follicular lymphoma and they expect to submit a filing for commercial approval
in 2021. Under our agreement with Novartis, Cryoport provides its full platform of cryogenic packaging and shipping using its Cryoport Express®

Shippers, monitoring using its SmartPakTM Condition Monitoring System technology and communications and information recording using its
Cryoportal® Logistics Management Platform to manage shipments from the Novartis manufacturing sites to their clinical and commercial sites for patient
administration globally.

Kite/Gilead. In July 2017, we signed an agreement with Kite Pharmaceuticals Inc. (a subsidiary of Gilead Sciences) to manage the clinical and
commercial shipments of its CAR-T cell therapy, YESCARTA® (Axicabtagene Ciloleucel). On October 18, 2017, YESCARTA® became the first CAR-T
therapy approved by the FDA for the treatment of adult patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma. Additionally, YESCARTA® received
EU approval on August 27, 2018 for relapsed/refractory DLBCL and PMBCL. As of the end of Q1 2020, Kite had 176 certified centers authorized to treat
patients globally. Through these centers approximately 2,900 patients have been treated with YESCARTA®. Gilead reported Q1 2020 revenue of $140
million from YESCARTA® compared to $96 million for Q1 2019. In addition to YESCARTA®, Kite filed for regulatory approval in the United States of
KTE-X19 for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma in the fourth quarter of 2019, received a Priority Review designation, and expects commercial
approval in the second half of 2020. Further, in the first quarter of 2020 Gilead filed for KTE-X19’s approval with the European Medicines Agency and is
now under review. Under our agreement with Kite, we provide our platform of cryogenic packaging and shipping using our Cryoport Express® Shippers,
monitoring using our SmartPakTM Condition Monitoring System technology and communications and information recording using our Cryoportal®
Logistics Management Platform to manage shipments from the Kite manufacturing sites to their clinical and commercial sites of patient administration
globally. In April 2020, the agreement was further amended and extended through April 2023, subject to certain termination and extension provisions.

bluebird bio. We are currently supporting bluebird bio’s clinical and commercial activity with our platform of temperature-controlled logistics
solutions.  On June 3, 2019, the EU approved ZYNTEGLOTM for patients 12 years and older with certain forms of Transfusion-Dependent
BetaThalassemia (TDT).  Because of the global pandemic bluebird bio expects to treat their first commercial patients in the second half of this year in
Germany. bluebird bio has initiated the rolling BLA submission for approval of ZYNTEGLOTM in the U.S. and has indicated that it is planning to complete
the BLA submission in mid-2021.  Beyond ZYNTEGLOTM bluebird bio intends to submit an MAA commercial filing with the EMA for Lenti-D (eli-cel)
to treat Cerebral Adrenoleukodystrophy before year end 2020. On July 29, 2020 Bristol Myers Squibb and bluebird bio announced the re-submission of
their Biologics License Application (BLA) to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for idecabtagene vicleucel (ide-cel; bb2121), the companies’
lead investigational B-cell maturation antigen (BCMA)-directed chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell immunotherapy, for the treatment of adult patients
with multiple myeloma who have received at least three prior therapies, including an immunomodulatory agent, a proteasome inhibitor and an anti-CD38
antibody.  Looking beyond 2020, bluebird bio has stated that they intend to submit commercial filings for LentiGlobin for the treatment of β-thalassemia
and Sickle Cell Disease in 2021.
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Lonza. On November 15, 2019, Cryoport announced a partnership with Lonza. Lonza’s network of cell and gene therapy facilities spans the US,
Europe and Asia Roband serves both clinical and commercial customers globally. Integrating Cryoport’s logistics and bioservices solutions with Lonza’s
manufacturing services and expertise will ensure a trusted and seamless supply chain and drive efficiencies in delivering innovative medicines to patients.
The goal of the partnership is to provide fully integrated solutions including, but not limited to, co-location of manufacturing, bioservices and distribution
facilities to improve and enhance responsiveness and optimized product workflow, automated data management providing integrated data entry, and
process optimization that reduces risk, increases transparency and improves certainty.

Chain of Compliance™

During 2018 we introduced Cryoport’s Chain of Compliance™ solution, as a new industry standard. Cryoport’s Chain of Compliance™ goes
beyond chain of condition, chain of custody and chain of identity by providing traceability of the equipment and processes supporting each client or patient
therapy. The Chain of ComplianceTM enables Cryoport to recall every transport that an individual Cryoport Express® Shipper has taken, the client it
supported, the commodity transported, it’s performance during transit, and each step that Cryoport performs before the shipper is put back into service.
This includes container performance and requalification history, commodity history, courier handling and performance history, calibration history, and
correlation competencies that can link in field events to equipment performance.

In June of 2020, the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) published a new guide of international standards (ISO21973).  Cryoport
is a member of the Standards Coordinating Body (SCB), an organization that works closely with the ISO and the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (NIST). ISO21973 provides general requirements and points to consider for transportation service providers, clients, and senders to ensure cell
quality, safety and efficacy during the transportation of cells for therapeutic use.

We believe that many elements of the ISO21973 are tied to our Chain of ComplianceTM solution, including:

● “Documentation for all stages of cell transportation that demonstrates chain of custody throughout the transportation cycle, including but
not limited to equipment performance, cleaning and equipment-use history.”

● “Qualification (dry shipper, weight, nitrogen evaporation rate and liquid nitrogen capacity)— cleaning and disinfection records.”

● “Segregation of human vs. animal derived products to prevent cross contamination.”

● “Each reusable container should be controlled with all performance, commodity, cleaning and maintenance records maintained for the
container and any reusable components or accessories.”

● “History of shipping containers use should be documented and retained, when the shipping container is re-used.”

Today ISO21973 is a set of best practices that have been agreed to by a group of international experts.  Compliance is voluntary and companies do
not have to follow the guidelines.  Regulators and governments count on ISO standards to help them develop better regulations, knowing that they have a
sound basis thanks to the involvement of globally established experts.  We do expect ISO21973 to be reviewed and possibly adopted by the FDA and other
regulatory bodies in the future.

We believe the main reason that the FDA and other regulatory bodies are interested in Cryoport’s Chain of ComplianceTM is that it provides the
ability to collect, interpret, and leverage comprehensive data enabling a significantly more intelligent supply chain. Rather than reactively trying to
determine what has gone wrong after multiple failures, it becomes possible to take a proactive approach. Moreover, we believe that effective
implementation provides historical traceability of logistics processes, equipment, and third-party support entities, which enables the critical assessment of
the complete supply chain designed to minimize failures and risk.

Impact of COVID-19

In late 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus that causes coronavirus disease (COVID-19) was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China, which has
since spread globally. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. Further, the COVID-19 outbreak has resulted
in government authorities around the world implementing numerous measures to try to reduce the impact of COVID-19, such as travel bans and
restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place or total lock-down orders. Many countries around
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the world have also implemented the temporary closure of non-essential businesses and other material limitations on the conduct of business. As a provider
of life saving therapies, Cryoport is deemed to be an essential business and has remained fully open and operational. However, the full extent of this
outbreak is still unknown at this point and the related governmental, business and travel restrictions in order to contain this virus are continuing to evolve
globally. Accordingly, there is significant uncertainty related to the ultimate impact that this global pandemic will have on the results of our operations.

For example, several life sciences companies, including some of our clients, announced the temporary suspension of clinical studies and trials as
well as other COVID-19 related risks that may impact their preclinical and clinical trials, including delays in patient enrollment or difficulties in initiating
or expanding clinical trials, interruption of clinical trial activity, and diversion of healthcare resources to focus on COVID-19 activities. In addition, with
respect to the impact of the pandemic on the reproductive medicine market, the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) and European
Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) both issued recommendations in March of 2020 to temporarily defer fertility treatments and
related activities. Both organizations have since updated and recently reaffirmed their recommendation to gradually and judiciously resume activities.
While these actions have negatively impacted our revenue in the markets we serve temporarily, we cannot determine the longer-term impact at this point. A
number of public announcements by government and clients indicate a regional or partially lifting of COVID-19 related restrictions and we therefore
currently expect revenue to start ramping back up gradually over time. Further, virus containment efforts as a result of governmental actions or policies or
other initiatives could lead to further disruption in the supply chain and as a result, we may have difficulties sourcing equipment or incur additional direct
costs to provide our solutions.

While longer-term client demand for our services overall remains strong, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the measures above
taken by some of our clients have adversely impacted our revenue growth. See Risk Factors, “The recent global pandemic caused by COVID-19 has and
could adversely affect our business operations, financial performance and results of operations, the extent of which is uncertain and difficult to predict.”

Results of Operations

Three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to three months ended June 30, 2019:

The following table summarizes certain information derived from our condensed consolidated statements of operations:

Three Months Ended  
June 30,  

    2020     2019     $ Change     % Change   
($ in 000’s)  

Revenues $  9,389 $  8,464  $  925   10.9 %
Cost of revenues   (4,262)   (4,125)  (137)  3.3 %

    
Gross margin   5,127   4,339   788   18.2 %
General and administrative   (5,733)   (3,259)  (2,474)  75.9 %
Sales and marketing   (3,293)   (2,843)  (450)  15.8 %
Engineering and development   (1,947)   (541)  (1,406)  259.8 %
Interest expense   (398)   (334)  (64)  19.3 %
Other income, net   491   119   372   310.9 %
Provision for income taxes   (50)   (9)  (41)  417.8 %
Net loss $  (5,803) $  (2,528) $  (3,275)  129.5 %
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The following table shows total revenue by reportable segment for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

Three Months Ended  
June 30,  

    2020     2019     $ Change     % Change   
 ($ in 000’s)

Global Logistics Solutions:
Biopharmaceutical $  7,283 $  6,959 $  324  4.7 %
Reproductive medicine   601   671   (70)  (10.5)%
Animal health   216   257   (41)  (16.3)%

Total Global Logistics Solutions   8,100   7,887   213  2.7 %
Global Bioservices   1,289   577   712  123.7 %
Total revenues $  9,389 $  8,464 $  925  10.9 %

Revenues. Revenues increased $925,400 or 10.9% to $9.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to $8.5 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2019. This increase was primarily driven by the ramp in commercial revenue from the therapies launched by Novartis and
Kite/Gilead in late 2017, the continuing increase in the number of biopharmaceutical customers utilizing our services and the increase in clinical trials
supported for these customers, offset by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic that led to the suspension of a meaningful number of clinical trials late
during the first quarter of 2020. Biopharmaceutical revenue increased $324,800 or 4.7%, to $7.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as
compared to $7.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019. Commercial revenue increased to $2.6 million for the three months ended June 30,
2020 as compared to $1.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2019.  During the three months ended June 30, 2020, we added approximately 12
new biopharma clients and added 26 clinical trials, net of completed or terminated trials, of which 16 trials were in the Americas, 7 in EMEA and 3 in
APAC. We now support 491 clinical trials (400 in the Americas, 72 in EMEA and 19 in APAC) compared to 413 clinical trials supported as of June 30,
2019 (353 in the Americas, 53 in EMEA and 7 APAC). The number of Phase III clinical trials supported increased to 66 trials as of June 30, 2020 (48 in the
Americas, 17 in EMEA, 1 in APAC). This compares to 52 Phase III trials (39 in the Americas, 12 in EMEA and 1 APAC) supported as of June 30, 2020.
This increased activity in the clinical trial space is expected to drive future revenue growth as these clinical trials advance and resulting therapies are
commercialized. Revenues in the reproductive medicine market decreased by 10.5% for the three months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the same
period in 2019, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on this market. Our revenue from animal health decreased 16.3% three months ended
June 30, 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on this market. Global Bioservices revenue
was $1.3 million for the second quarter of 2020 as a result of the acquisition of the Cryogene business in May 2019.

Gross margin and cost of revenues. Gross margin for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was 54.6% of revenues, as compared to 51.3% of
revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2019. The increase in gross margin by three percentage points was primarily due to the increased business
volume and pricing adjustments combined with a reduction in freight as a percentage of revenues and a decrease of fixed manufacturing costs. Our cost of
revenues are primarily comprised of freight charges, payroll and associated expenses related to our global logistics centers, third-party charges for our
European and Asian staging centers in the Netherlands and Singapore, depreciation expenses of our Cryoport Express® Shippers and supplies and
consumables used for our solutions.  Cost of revenues increased $136,800, or 3.3%, to $4.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020, as compared
to $4.1 million in the same period in 2019.  The increase in cost of revenues was primarily due to freight charges from the increased volume of shipments
and an increase in operating costs for our global logistics centers.  

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $2.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 or
75.9% as compared to the same period in 2019. This increase is primarily due to $1.7 million in consulting and legal services for acquisition-related
activities, an increase in wages and associated employee costs of $334,400 of which $188,500 is as a result of the Cryogene acquisition in May 2019, an
increase in facility and other overhead allocations of $378,900, an increase in stock-based compensation of $85,100, an increase in insurance premiums of
$87,900 and an increase in patent legal fees of $63,100. These increases were partially offset by an overall decrease of $82,500 for public company related
expenses (including legal, audit and internal control audit fees) and a decrease of $74,100 for travel and lodging expenses.

Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expenses, which includes logistics operations, increased $449,800 or 15.8% and is primarily due to an
increase in wages and associated employee costs of $478,700 for the expansion of our domestic logistics force, which includes a reduction of recruiting
and relocation fees of $85,300, an increase in stock-based compensation of $136,400 and an increase in facility and other overhead allocations of
$102,000.  These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $190,000 for travel and lodging expenses and a decrease of $95,300 in marketing related
activities.  
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Engineering and development expenses. Engineering and development expenses increased $1.4 million or 259.8% for the three months ended
June 30, 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019. The increase is primarily due to an increase of $1.0 million in consulting expenses directed at
further enhancing our logistics solutions, an increase of $293,200 in wages and associated employee costs to add to add software development and
engineering resources, an increase in stock-based compensation of $62,100, an increase in facility and other overhead allocations of $18,700.   We
continually strive to improve and expand the features of our Cryoport Express® Solutions. Our primary developments are directed towards facilitating the
safe, reliable and efficient shipment of life science commodities through innovative and technology-based solutions. We supplement our internal
engineering and development resources with subject matter experts and consultants.

Interest expense.  Interest expense increased $64,300 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the three months ended June 30,
2019 as a result of the 3% convertible senior notes issued in May 2020.

Other income, net.  Other income, net for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019,  increased by $371,300
due to a net $180,300 gain on equity securities in addition to investment interest and dividend income on our cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments.  

Six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to six months ended June 30, 2019:

The following table summarizes certain information derived from our condensed consolidated statements of operations:

    Six Months Ended  
June 30,

    2020     2019     $Change     % Change  
    ($in 000’s)  

Revenues $  19,163 $  15,117 $  4,046   26.8 %
Cost of revenues   (8,778)   (7,324)   (1,454)  19.9 %

Gross margin   10,385   7,793   2,592   33.3 %
General and administrative   (9,763)   (5,956)   (3,807)  63.9 %
Sales and marketing   (6,375)   (5,251)   (1,124)  21.4 %
Engineering and development   (3,679)   (1,031)   (2,648)  257.0 %
Interest expense   (401)   (673)   272   (40.4)%
Other income , net   170   211   (41)  (19.6)%
Provision for income taxes   (83)   (9)   (74)  (849.8)%
Net loss $  (9,746) $  (4,916) $  (4,830)  98.3 %

The following table shows total revenue by reportable segment for the six months ended June 30,2020 and 2019:

    Six Months Ended  
June 30,

    2020     2019     $Change     % Change  
($in 000’s)  

Global Logistics Solutions:            
Biopharmaceutical $  14,800 $  12,599 $  2,201   17.5 %
Reproductive medicine   1,363   1,455   (92)  (6.3)%
Animal health   441   486   (45)  (9.3)%

Total Global Logistics Solutions   16,604   14,540   2,064   14.2 %
Global Bioservices   2,559   577   1,982   343.8 %
Total revenues $  19,163 $  15,117 $  4,046   26.8 %

Revenues. Revenues increased $4.0 million or 26.8% to $19.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to $15.1 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2019. This increase was primarily driven by the ramp in commercial revenue from the therapies launched by Novartis and
Kite/Gilead in late 2017, the continuing increase in the number of biopharmaceutical customers utilizing our services and the increase in clinical trials
supported for these customers, offset by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic that led to the suspension of a meaningful number of clinical trials late
during the first quarter. Biopharmaceutical revenue increased $2.2 million or 17.5%, to $14.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared
to $12.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2019. Commercial revenue increased to $5.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as
compared to $3.3 million for
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the six months ended June 30, 2019.  During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we added approximately 45 new biopharma clients and added 55 clinical
trials, net of completed or terminated trials, of which 39 trials were in the Americas, 11 in EMEA and 5 in APAC. We now support 491 clinical trials (400
in the Americas, 72 in EMEA and 19 in APAC) compared to 413 clinical trials supported as of June 30, 2019 (353 in the Americas, 53 in EMEA and 7
APAC). The number of Phase III clinical trials supported increased to 66 trials as of June 30, 2020 (48 in the Americas, 17 in EMEA and 1 in APAC). This
compares to 52 Phase III trials (39 in the Americas, 12 in EMEA and 1 APAC) supported as of June 30, 2019. This increased activity in the clinical trial
space is expected to drive future revenue growth as these clinical trials advance and resulting therapies are commercialized. Revenues in the reproductive
medicine market decreased by 6.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019, as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic and its effects on this market. Our revenue from animal health decreased by 9.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the
same period in 2019 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on this market.  Global Bioservices revenue was $2.6 million for 2020 as a result
of the acquisition of the Cryogene business in May 2019.

Gross margin and cost of revenues. Gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was 54.2% of revenues, as compared to 51.5% of
revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The increase in gross margin by almost three percentage points was primarily due to the increased
business volume and pricing adjustments combined with a reduction in freight as a percentage of revenues and a decrease of fixed manufacturing costs.
Our cost of revenues are primarily comprised of freight charges, payroll and associated expenses related to our global logistics centers, third-party charges
for our European and Asian staging centers in the Netherlands and Singapore, depreciation expenses of our Cryoport Express® Shippers and supplies and
consumables used for our solutions.  Cost of revenues increased $1.5 million, or 19.9%, to $8.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as
compared to $7.3 million in the same period in 2019.  The increase in cost of revenues was primarily due to freight charges from the increased volume of
shipments and an increase in operating costs for our global logistics centers.  

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $3.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 or
63.9% as compared to the same period in 2019. This increase is primarily due to $1.7 million in consulting and legal services for acquisition-related
activities, an increase in wages and associated employee costs of $950,600 of which $188,500 is as a result of the Cryogene acquisition in May 2019, an
increase in facility and other overhead allocations of $865,400, an increase in stock-based compensation of $188,400, and an increase in insurance
premiums of $182,700 and an increase in patent legal fees of $96,900. These increases were partially offset by an overall decrease of $126,400 for public
company related expenses (including legal, audit and internal control audit fees) and a decrease of $57,800 for travel and lodging expenses.

Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expenses, which includes logistics operations, increased $1.1 million or 21.4% for the six months
ended June 30, 2020 and is primarily due to an increase in wages and associated employee costs of $969,200 which includes recruiting and relocation fees
of $46,800 for the expansion of our domestic logistics force, an increase in facility and other overhead allocations of $165,300 and an increase of $18,300
in marketing and advertising promotions. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $194,800 for travel and lodging expenses.

Engineering and development expenses. Engineering and development expenses increased $2.6 million or 257.0% for the six months ended June
30, 2020, as compared to the same period in 2019. The increase is primarily due to an increase of $1.9 million in consulting expenses directed at further
enhancing our logistics solutions, an increase of $478,800 in wages and associated employee costs to add to add software development and engineering
resources, an increase in stock-based compensation of $90,000, and an increase in facility and other overhead allocations of $46,000.   We continually
strive to improve and expand the features of our Cryoport Express® Solutions. Our primary developments are directed towards facilitating the safe, reliable
and efficient shipment of life science commodities through innovative and technology-based solutions. We supplement our internal engineering and
development resources with subject matter experts and consultants.

Interest expense.  Interest expense decreased $271,900 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the six months ended June 30,
2019, as the company only incurred interest expense during the six months ended June 30, 2020 starting May 2020 as a result of the issuance of 3% senior
convertible notes.

Other income, net.  Other income, net for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019,  decreased by $41,300 due
to a net loss of $468,200 on equity securities which was offset by investment interest and dividend income on our cash and cash equivalents and short-term
investments.  
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $44.3 million, $163.9 million in short-term investments and had working
capital of $207.2 million. Historically, we have financed our operations primarily through sales of equity securities and debt instruments.

For the six months ended June 30, 2020, we used $309,600 of cash for operations primarily as a result of the net loss of $9.7 million offset by
non-cash expenses of $6.3 million comprised of $3.9 million of stock-based compensation, $804,800 of realized losses on our equity securities as well as
$1.7 million of depreciation and amortization and a decrease of $205,200 in other current assets.  This loss was partially offset by $336,600 of unrealized
gain on equity securities. Also contributing to the cash impact of our net operating loss, excluding non-cash items, was a decrease in accounts receivable of
$25,500 and an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3.1 million.  

Net cash used in investing activities of $119.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was primarily due to the $136.3 million
purchase of short-term investments, and $2.5 million for the capitalization of software development costs for our Cryoportal® Logistics Management
Platform, and additional purchases of Cryoport Express® Shippers, SmartPak IITM Condition Monitoring Systems, freezers and computer equipment,
partially offset by the maturity of short-term investments of $19.3 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $117.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020, primarily as a result of  net proceeds
of $111.3 million from the issuance of 3% convertible senior notes issued in May 2020 and $5.9 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options and
warrants.

The Company’s management believes that, based on its current plans and assumptions, the current cash and cash equivalents on hand, short-term
investments, together with projected cash flows, will satisfy our operational and capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. The Company’s
management recognizes that the Company may need to obtain additional capital to fund its operations and potential acquisitions until sustained profitable
operations are achieved. Additional funding plans may include obtaining additional capital through equity and/or debt funding sources. No assurance can
be given that additional capital, if needed, will be available when required or upon terms acceptable to the Company.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable .

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2020. Based on this
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30,
2020.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and in reaching a reasonable level of assurance,
management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As permitted by SEC guidance for newly acquired businesses, management’s assessment of our disclosure controls and procedures did not include
an assessment of the controls and procedures of Cryogene, which was acquired on May 14, 2019. Cryogene
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accounted for approximately 9.8% of our total assets as of June 30, 2020 and 28% and 13% of our total revenues for the three and six months ended June
30, 2020,respectively.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during
the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risks described in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, in our Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the following
risk factors, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. These risk factors do not identify all of the
risks that we face. Our business, financial condition and results of operations could also be affected by factors that are not presently known to us or that we
currently consider to be immaterial.

Risks Related to Our Business

The recent global pandemic caused by COVID-19 has and could adversely affect our business operations, financial performance and results
of operations, the extent of which is uncertain and difficult to predict.

In late 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus that causes COVID-19 was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China, which has since spread globally.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. Further, the COVID-19 outbreak has resulted in government
authorities around the world implementing numerous measures to try to reduce the impact of COVID-19, such as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines,
shelter in place or total lock-down orders. Many countries around the world have also implemented the temporary closure of non-essential businesses and
other material limitations on the conduct of business. As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak and the related responses from government authorities, our
business operations, financial performance and results of operations have been adversely affected as a result of reduced demand for our services in all
markets and may be adversely impacted in a number of ways, including, but not limited to, the following:

● disruptions to our operations, including a shutdown of one or more of our global logistics centers or our biostorage facility that may be
caused if our employees become infected with COVID-19; restrictions on our operations and sales, marketing and distribution efforts; and
interruptions to our research and development activities, engineering, design and manufacturing processes and other important business
activities;

● reduced demand for our products and services due to disruptions to the businesses and operations of our customers, which may, in particular,
result from lower volumes of clinical studies and trials or reduced activity in the reproductive medicine markets due to social distancing
restrictions; and reduction in our animal health market due to reduced demand.

● interruptions, availability or delays in global shipping to transport our products;

● a slowdown or stoppage in the supply chain for our products;

● limitations on employee resources and availability, including due to sickness, government restrictions, the desire of employees to avoid
contact with large groups of people or mass transit disruptions;

● a fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates or interest rates could result from market uncertainties;
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● an increase in the cost or the difficulty to obtain debt or equity financing could affect our financial condition or our ability to fund operations
or future investment opportunities; and

● an increase in regulatory restrictions or continued market volatility could hinder our ability to execute strategic business activities, including
acquisitions, as well as negatively impact our stock price.

The spread of COVID-19 has caused us to modify our business practices (including employee travel, employee work locations, and cancellation
of physical participation in meetings, events and conferences), and we may take further actions as may be required by government authorities or that we
determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, and suppliers. There is no certainty that such measures will be sufficient to
mitigate the risks posed by the virus, and our ability to perform critical functions could be harmed.

Additionally, COVID-19 could negatively affect our internal controls over financial reporting as a portion of our workforce is required to work
from home and therefore new processes, procedures, and controls could be required to respond to changes in our business environment. Further, should any
key employees become ill from COVID-19 and unable to work, the attention of the management team could be diverted.

The potential effects of COVID-19 may also impact many of our other risk factors discussed in in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, in our Annual
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. The degree to which COVID-19 impacts our business operations, financial performance and
results of operations will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain, continuously evolving and cannot be predicted, including, but not
limited to, the duration and spread of the COVID-19 outbreak, its severity, the actions to contain the virus or treat its impact and how quickly and to what
extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit      
Index   

   

4.1
Indenture dated May 26, 2020, between Cryoport, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of 
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 26, 2020.

4.2
Form of 3.00% Convertible Senior Note due 2025.  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 
8-K dated May 26, 2020.

10.1
Registration Rights Agreement dated May 26, 2020, among Cryoport, Inc., Jefferies LLC and SVB Leerink LLC.  Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 26, 2020.

31.1+  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
31.2+  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32.1+  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
101.INS+  XBRL Instance Document.
   
101.SCH+  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
   
101.CAL+  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
101.DEF+  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
   
101.LAB+  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
   
101.PRE+  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

+  Filed or furnished herewith.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1124524/000110465920066043/tm2020928d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1124524/000110465920066043/tm2020928d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1124524/000110465920066043/tm2020928d1_ex10-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/cryoport/sec/0001104659-20-092668/for_pdf/cyrx-20200630xex31d1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/cryoport/sec/0001104659-20-092668/for_pdf/cyrx-20200630xex31d2.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/cryoport/sec/0001104659-20-092668/for_pdf/cyrx-20200630xex32d1.htm
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of the Exchange Act, the Registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

Dated:August 10, 2020 Cryoport, Inc.
   
 By: /s/ Jerrell W. Shelton
  Jerrell W. Shelton
  Chief Executive Officer
   
Dated: August 10, 2020   
   
 By: /s/ Robert S. Stefanovich
  Robert S. Stefanovich
  Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerrell W. Shelton, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cryoport, Inc.

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and

d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2020

/s/ Jerrell W. Shelton

JERRELL W. SHELTON
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert S. Stefanovich, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cryoport, Inc.

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this quarterly report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report based on such evaluation; and

d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 10, 2020

/s/ Robert S. Stefanovich

ROBERT S. STEFANOVICH
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Cryoport, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jerrell W. Shelton, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge that:

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Jerrell W. Shelton

JERRELL W. SHELTON
Chief Executive Officer

August 10, 2020

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Cryoport, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert S. Stefanovich, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge that:

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Robert S. Stefanovich

ROBERT S. STEFANOVICH
Chief Financial Officer

August 10, 2020

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Cryoport, Inc. and will be retained by Cryoport, Inc. and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

This Certification is being furnished pursuant to Rule 15(d) and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C.
78r), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. This Certification shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.


